ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV 12 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

SAMMIE LOUIS STOKES.....*Petitioner,*

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA.....*Respondent.*

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000635

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

KEIR M. WEYBLE
Cornell Law School
158-B Myron Taylor Hall
Ithaca, NY 14853
(607) 255 3805

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender
South Carolina Commission
on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734 1330

Counsel for Petitioner

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. AS A MATTER OF FIRST IMPRESSION IN SOUTH CAROLINA, WHETHER A LAWYER'S SUCCESSIVE PARTICIPATION, FIRST AS PROSECUTOR OF A DEFENDANT FOR A VIOLENT ASSAULT, AND LATER AS DEFENSE ATTORNEY FOR THAT SAME DEFENDANT IN A CAPITAL TRIAL AT WHICH THE VICTIM OF THE PRIOR ASSAULT TESTIFIES FOR THE PROSECUTION, VIOLATES THE SIXTH AMENDMENT GUARANTEE OF CONFLICT-FREE COUNSEL?
- II. WHETHER THE PCR COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FINDING A WAIVER OF THE RIGHT TO CONFLICT-FREE COUNSEL ON THE BASIS OF A TRIAL RECORD CONTAINING NO MENTION OF A CONFLICT OR WAIVER, AND A POST-CONVICTION RECORD THAT DOES NOT ADDRESS, LET ALONE SATISFY, MOST OF THE CONSTITUTIONALLY ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF A VALID WAIVER?
- III. WHETHER THE PCR COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN HOLDING THAT DIRECT APPEAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO CHALLENGE THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO CONDUCT AN INDEPENDENT ASSESSMENT OF THE EVIDENCE TO DETERMINE WHICH STATUTORY MITIGATORS WERE SUPPORTED, OR TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON A MITIGATOR FOR WHICH THERE WAS EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Sammie Louis Stokes, seeks review of the denial of his application for post-conviction relief (PCR), in which he challenged the sentence of death imposed upon him by the Orangeburg County Court of General Sessions. As set forth in greater detail below, this case presents an important question of first impression. Stokes was represented at his capital trial by a former solicitor who had won a criminal jury verdict against him for a violent assault against his ex-wife. While that circumstance did not, by itself, give rise to a conflict of interest under this Court's existing jurisprudence, there was more. When the penalty phase of Stokes' capital trial got under way, his ex-wife – the victim of the earlier assault – was the first witness the prosecution called to the stand in support of a death sentence. During his brief, *pro forma* cross-examination, Stokes' prosecutor-turned-defense-counsel conspicuously pulled his punches, bypassing readily available opportunities for impeachment, and never letting on that he had previously persuaded a different jury to accept the very story, told by the very witness, he was now obligated to confront and discredit. In other states that have addressed the issue, these circumstances – commonly described as successive representation in *related* (as opposed to merely *unrelated*) matters – would constitute a violation of the right to conflict-free counsel, and require a grant of relief. As of now, this Court has never decided a case in this category.

In the PCR proceedings below, there was no dispute over whether the same lawyer had prosecuted then defended Stokes, over the featured roles Stokes' ex-wife had played in both trials, or over the substance or strength of the impeachment opportunities counsel failed to pursue. It was also undisputed that the trial judge had not been made aware of any of these facts, and that the trial record contains nothing resembling a waiver colloquy. The PCR hearing

evidence instead focused on whether defense counsel had nevertheless obtained a constitutionally valid off-the-record waiver of Stokes' right to conflict-free representation. On that question, defense counsel and his co-counsel (who had said literally nothing on the record at trial), testified that, some time prior to trial, they had reminded Stokes that the lawyer appointed to defend him had previously sent him to prison, asked Stokes whether he had a "problem" with that, then accepted his answer that he did not. Neither attorney, however, had any recollection of advising Stokes that his ex-wife would be a witness for the prosecution, or that cross-examining her would require his defense lawyer to become the adversary of a victim he had previously – and successfully – championed as a prosecutor. Likewise, no evidence indicated that counsel revisited the matter with Stokes once it became clear that the *possibility* of a confrontation with the victim from the earlier case had ripened into a *certainty*.

On the basis of this record, Stokes asserted both that counsel had labored under an actual conflict that adversely affected his performance, and that the information provided to Stokes, according to counsel's own account, was insufficient to support a constitutionally valid waiver as a matter of law. With regard to the existence of a conflict, Stokes provided the PCR court with detailed briefing explaining that although this Court had never addressed it, consensus among other courts places successive representation cases into two outcome-determinative categories: a larger category comprised of cases in which the successive proceedings are "unrelated," such that counsel's mere participation in both ordinarily creates no conflict; and a smaller category of cases, like this one, in which the successive proceedings are or become "related" through the appearance of common witnesses or the repetition of common issues, such that counsel's participation on both sides generates an actual conflict. As to the possibility of a waiver, Stokes'

briefing identified the settled constitutional standard for a knowing, voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known right, and explained how the evidence in this case was incapable of meeting it.

The PCR court denied relief by signing an order prepared by counsel for respondent with no direction from the court. Adapted wholesale from respondent's own post-hearing briefing, the order denying relief assiduously ignored the body of law from other states differentiating between "related" and "unrelated" cases, and insisted instead that this case was governed by *State v. Childers*, 373 S.C. 367, 645 S.E.2d 233 (2007), a non-capital case which involved successive representation in *unrelated* proceedings. The order also included an alternative determination that Stokes' acquiescence to continued representation after being told his lawyer had previously prosecuted him amounted to a waiver of his right to conflict-free counsel. In making this determination, the PCR order treated trial counsel's account as conclusive proof of a waiver, and faulted Stokes for failing to take the stand to *refute* that testimony. Importantly, however, the order never acknowledged or applied the settled constitutional rules that actually govern the waiver of conflict-free counsel, under which trial counsel's testimony – even if taken as true – was insufficient in multiple respects.

After receiving the order denying relief, Stokes filed a timely motion to alter or amend the judgment. Among other contentions, that motion set forth objections to the PCR court's failure to make and articulate its own findings, and to the order's failure to acknowledge, let alone analyze, the legal principles critical to accurate resolution of the issues. After hearing argument on the motion and indicating that it would prepare its own order resolving the issues, *see* App. 2231-32, the PCR court ceded that critical task to respondent as well, *compare*, App.

2348-2370 *with* App. 2371-2395. The resulting order finally denying relief continued to ignore the legal rules omitted from the earlier order, and compounded both the factual misrepresentations that had appeared before, and the conclusions drawn from them.¹

I. Relevant procedural history.

Stokes was found guilty of murder, kidnapping, first degree criminal sexual conduct, and criminal conspiracy, and sentenced to death by an Orangeburg County jury on October 31, 1999. This Court affirmed his convictions and sentence on May 29, 2001. *State v. Stokes*, 345 S.C. 368, 548 S.E.2d 202 (2001). On October 17, 2001, Stokes filed an application for post-conviction relief. On March 11, 2002, the PCR court appointed counsel to represent Stokes in connection with his post-conviction relief proceedings. Stokes, through counsel, amended his application for post-conviction relief on May 2, 2002, and again on August 6, 2004. After a delay in the proceedings to facilitate a determination of whether Stokes had mental retardation, the PCR court convened an evidentiary hearing on August 5, 2009. At that hearing, Stokes presented evidence relevant to the claims for relief discussed *infra*.

In early 2010, the parties filed post-hearing memoranda in support of their positions. On August 29, 2010, counsel for respondent submitted an unsolicited proposed order denying Stokes' application in all respects, which the PCR court signed without modification on October 21, 2010. Stokes thereafter filed a timely Motion to Alter or Amend, which was heard on December 8, 2011. After additional post-hearing briefing on January 27, 2012, the PCR court

¹As will be noted, *infra*, the orders written by counsel for the State and adopted by the PCR court contain a number patently disingenuous "findings" which badly distort the record, and falsely impugn the integrity of both Stokes' appointed PCR counsel and an attorney witness who testified to facts demonstrating that Sims had been put on notice of the potential for a serious conflict well before trial. These unseemly abuses of the order-drafting power were brought to the PCR court's attention, but it took no action to correct them.

announced its intention to deny relief, and counsel for respondent submitted a proposed order to that effect on March 28, 2012. On April 10, 2012, counsel for Stokes filed objections to the proposed order and, on the basis of remarks made by the PCR judge to counsel for the parties, moved for appointment of new counsel in light of *Martinez v. Ryan*, 132 S.Ct. 1309 (2012). Nine days later, respondent submitted another proposed order denying Stokes' Motion to Alter or Amend and his request for new counsel. On February 13, 2013, the PCR court signed that document without modification.² Stokes received written notice of the entry of judgment on February 26, 2013, and filed a timely Notice of Appeal on March 27, 2013.³

II. Relevant facts.

A. Crimes, arrest, and appointment of counsel.

In early 1998, Stokes was finishing a ten year prison sentence for aggravated assault and battery when his cellmate, Roy Toothe, approached him about a plan to murder Toothe's girlfriend, Connie Snipes. App. 966-67. At the time, Snipes was living with Toothe's mother, Pattie Syphrette. App. 966. Syphrette wanted Snipes killed because of her belief that Snipes had been unfaithful to Toothe, and because she disapproved of Snipes' treatment of her children, who were Syphrette's grandchildren; DSS had already taken custody of one child, and its investigation was ongoing. App. 966-67. Stokes agreed to the plan. App. 967.

²Although the document signed by the PCR judge is dated "February 13, 2012," it was actually signed on that date in 2013. The version supplied by counsel for respondent included "2012" as part of the signature block, and the court did not correct it.

³The unusual delay since the filing of the Notice of Appeal is largely attributable to efforts to reconstruct the PCR record, made necessary by the Orangeburg County Clerk of Court's apparent loss of exhibits admitted into evidence at the PCR hearing, and pleadings submitted on behalf of Stokes in connection with the Circuit Court proceedings. *See* App. 2543-51.

Stokes was released from prison in early May, 1998. App. 784, 967. Shortly thereafter, DSS ordered Syphrette to evict Snipes from her home or risk losing another grandchild to removal by DSS. App. 971. Unwilling to have another grandchild taken, Syphrette contacted Stokes and set her plan in motion. App. 971. As a ploy to lure Snipes to a secluded area, Syphrette asked her to assist in the murder of one Doug Ferguson. Snipes agreed. App. 1661. Stokes and Syphrette then picked up Snipes and another man, Norris Martin, and drove to a wooded area, ostensibly for the purpose of killing Ferguson. App. 1661. After Stokes, Martin, and Snipes walked some distance into the woods, the true purpose of the venture was revealed to Snipes. App. 891, 973. She was then sexually assaulted and shot to death. App. 890-94, 1662.

Approximately five days later, a farmer happened upon Snipes' decomposing corpse and notified authorities. App. 812-15. At the crime scene investigators found items known to belong to Norris Martin, including a state-issued identification card. App. 821, 823-24. After interviewing Martin and obtaining other information linking Syphrette to the crime, the police made their way to her house. App. 842, 845. As it happened, Syphrette was then in the process of actually carrying out the Ferguson murder.⁴ Just before the police arrived, Syphrette and Stokes wrapped Ferguson with duct tape; the tape covered his mouth and nose, and he suffocated. App. 1209, 1310-12. Stokes and Syphrette were arrested a short time later.⁵

⁴Syphrette wanted Ferguson dead because he knew too much about the Snipes homicide. Syphrette had originally approached him about taking part in killing Snipes, but he had refused and Syphrette feared he would go to the police and implicate her. App. 1308, 1331.

⁵Stokes pled guilty to the Ferguson murder and was sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole.

Orangeburg County attorneys Thomas Sims and Virgin Johnson were appointed to defend Stokes. The trial court held a formal appointment hearing at which attorneys Sims and Johnson placed their qualifications on the record. App. 1505-07. Describing his criminal law experience, Sims emphasized his handling of “major criminal prosecutions” in the First Circuit Solicitor’s office from 1982 until 1993, but said nothing about any individual cases he took part in as a prosecutor. App. 1505-06. Satisfied with counsel’s qualifications, and unaware of any countervailing circumstances, the trial court designated Sims as lead counsel. App. 1507.

B. Sims’ 1991 prosecution of Stokes.

Just over seven years before his appointment as Stokes’ lead defense counsel for the Snipes capital murder trial, Sims, then an assistant solicitor, signed an indictment against Stokes for assault and battery with intent to kill. App. 1696-97. The victim was Stokes’ ex-wife, Audrey Smith. App. 1697. On March 12, 1991, Sims appeared at the trial on that indictment as the only representative for the State; he presented all of the evidence, which consisted primarily of testimony from Audrey Smith; he made all of the arguments to the judge and jury; and he secured a conviction for aggravated assault and battery. *See* App. 2396-2537. Stokes himself appeared in the courtroom only briefly, before the trial began. After the trial judge denied his request for time to locate and hire a private attorney, Stokes declined to be present for the actual trial proceedings, and therefore observed none of the prosecution’s case against him, and none of Sims’ activities as the prosecutor. App. 2408-09, 2428-29. Stokes also declined to be present for the reading of the verdict or for sentencing.⁶ App. 2533-34.

⁶It was during the resulting ten year prison term that Stokes became acquainted with Roy Toothe and Patty Syphrette.

The 1991 prosecution arose out of a December 1990 domestic violence incident. In testimony elicited by Sims, Audrey Smith claimed that she and Stokes had sex in a schoolyard, then walked to a nearby field where Stokes choked her until she lost consciousness. App. 2437-41. Some time later, Smith, still lying in the field, woke up, walked to a nearby house, and called 9-1-1. App. 2441. Smith also claimed that before they walked to the field, Stokes had her read a letter in which he expressed an intent to kill her, and that Stokes then told her he had changed his mind. App. 2439.

In a cross-examination spanning approximately twenty transcript pages, defense counsel raised doubts about Smith's claims by establishing a series of inconsistencies between the testimony she had given at a preliminary hearing and the story she told at trial. *See* App. 2443-2462. Additionally, defense counsel called two other witnesses who saw Stokes and Smith just before the alleged assault and described the couple as having appeared normal. App. 2492-94, 2498-2500. In response to this challenge to Audrey Smith's credibility, Sims devoted much of his closing argument to convincing the jury that Smith had been truthful, and that her version of events was accurate. App. 2519. As shown by the jury's guilty verdict, Sims' advocacy on behalf of Audrey Smith was successful.

C. Stokes knew little, and the 1999 trial judge knew even less.

It is undisputed that neither Sims nor anyone else ever informed the 1999 trial court that Sims had personally prosecuted Stokes in 1991, and the record of pre-trial and trial proceedings associated with the Snipes case contains no mention of the issue. With no knowledge of his own about the possibility that lead defense counsel was (or could be) burdened by a conflict of interest, the trial judge made no inquiry, conducted no colloquy, and secured no waiver.

Sims' casual approach to the issue was also reflected in the advice he gave to Stokes. According to Sims and his co-counsel Johnson, Sims did little more than remind Stokes in general terms that he had been a prosecutor, and that he had once prosecuted Stokes.⁷ While Sims and Johnson both recalled these communications to Stokes, neither had any recollection of informing Stokes of the ways in which Sims' work as the prosecutor at the Audrey Smith ABWIK trial could affect his representation if Smith were to appear as a State's witness at the Snipes capital murder trial. In fact, when questioned directly on that point, Sims insisted he had no memory of advising Stokes about the nature or consequences of a possible confrontation with Smith at the 1999 capital trial:

Q: And so you certainly wouldn't have discussed with [Stokes] the possibility of you cross-examining the witness that you didn't think was going to be able to testify, right; we're talking about Audrey Smith?

A: I don't know. I can't say that I did or did not.

Q: You don't have any recollection about talking to Mr. Stokes about Audrey Smith taking the witness stand and you cross-examining her?

A: No, I don't.

...

⁷See App. 1863 (Sims: "[W]e did discuss with Mr. Stokes, my role, who I was, and what my role had been in the previous matter with him."); *id.* at 1864 (Sims, explaining his rationale for reminding Stokes of who he was: "For him to know fully who I was, what was there before him, and it was in my mind that if I tell you that, you know, hey, you know who I am. I'm the one who prosecuted you, sent you to jail, do you still want me as your lawyer, and he says, yes."); *id.* at 1892 (Sims' advice to Stokes about 1991 prosecution was limited to reminder that Sims had prosecuted Stokes, and that Stokes had gone to prison as a result); *id.* at 1896 (Sims: "Let me put it this way, [Stokes] knew that I had been the prosecutor. He knew that I had been the one to prosecute him, and, of course, my practice would have been to say, look, you have any problems with that?"); *id.* at 1910 (Johnson: "Only thing I can remember is ... [Sims] said ... you know I put you in jail or I prosecuted you and [Stokes] said yes. And it went through the questions of do you have a problem with me representing you ... do you want somebody else and he said no.").

Q: But you wouldn't have told [Stokes] that Audrey Smith was going to testify and you were going to cross-examine her, because you did not think she was going to testify, right?

A: I have no recollection that I either did or did not.

App. 1903-04; *see also id.* at 1912.

For his own part, Stokes himself had no independent factual basis from which to surmise what a confrontation between Sims and Smith might look like. Because he had been absent from the 1991 trial, Stokes had not seen or heard the direct or cross-examinations of Smith, and he had not been able to watch or listen as Sims urged the jury to believe Smith during his closing argument. The PCR evidence further showed that Stokes was never afforded an opportunity to consult with a different lawyer who might have informed him of the brewing conflict and how it could be expected to manifest itself at trial. *See* App. 1892-93. In short, Stokes' only possible source of information concerning the relationship between the 1991 and 1999 trials, both of which featured Smith and Sims, was Sims himself. As Sims' own testimony makes clear, that information was never delivered.⁸

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