**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

Appeal from Orangeburg County
L. Casey Manning, PCR Circuit Court Judge

SAMMIE LOUIS STOKES,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RECEIVED

MAR 23 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

Appellate Case No. 2013-000635

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

305 East North St., Ste. 325
Greenville, South Carolina 29601

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

Savitz admitted that in State v. Humphries in 1993 the Supreme Court held that a failure to make a specific request for a statutory mitigating circumstance waived the right to raise the omission on appeal. He stated that he may have been missing the message that the Court was sending, because he still raised the issue in Kamell Evans (2006) contending that the law was uncertain concerning preservation of the issue. App.p. 1839-40, PCR 31-32. He admitted that in Evans, the Supreme Court made clear that a request for the factor had to be made to preserve the issue when it was not charged. App.p. 1841, PCR 33. However, he had no idea why he did not raise the issue in Stokes appeal brief. App.p. 1841, PCR 33, l. 5.

Counsel Sims conceded that he did not object to the failure to give the particular statutory mitigating circumstance instruction. App.p. 1873, PCR 65.

ANALYSIS

Deficient Performance Not Shown

The PCR court concluded that the Petitioner has failed to show either deficient performance or prejudice under Strickland v. Washington. App.p. 2161-62. Appellate counsel Savitz cannot be deficient under Strickland in failing to raise these two particular issues because neither issue was presented to the trial court by a timely objection on the record. Absent a specific request by counsel to charge a mitigating circumstance at trial, the issue of whether the mitigator should have been charged is not preserved for appellate review. State v. Evans (Kamell), 371 S.C. 27, 32, 637 S.E.2d 313, 315 (2006).

The PCR court reliance on Humphries and Victor to show that counsel was not deficient is well-founded. In State v. Victor, 300 S.C. 220, 224, 387 S.E.2d 248, 250 (1989), the Supreme Court set forth the proper procedure for submission of statutory mitigating factors to the jury in the penalty phase of a capital case:

Once the trial judge has made an initial determination of which statutory mitigating circumstances are supported by the evidence, the defendant shall be given an opportunity on the record: (1) to waive the submission of those he does not wish considered by the jury; and (2) to request any additional mitigating statutory circumstances supported by the evidence that he wishes submitted to the jury.

See, State v. Stanko, 376 S.C. 571, 577-578, 658 S.E.2d 94, 97 - 98 (2008) (not preserved).

One of the earlier cases addressing this assertion was handled by appellate counsel Savitz prior to his handling in the instant case resulted in rejection of the argument as not preserved. State v. Humphries, 325 S.C. 28, 36, 479 S.E.2d 52, 57 (1996). The Court has consistently rejected claims that certain mitigating factors should have been instructed absent request and objection, except in the intoxication evidence area which was corrected in Evans. The recent cases have stated that absent a request by counsel to charge a mitigating circumstance at trial, the issue whether the mitigator should have been charged is not preserved for review. See State v.

Vazquez, 364 S.C. 293, 301, 613 S.E.2d 359, 363 (2005); State v. Bowman, 366 S.C. 485, 494, 623 S.E.2d 378, 383 (2005); and State v. Sapp, 366 S.C. 283, 621 S.E.2d 883, n. 3 (2005).

In the instant case, trial counsel did not request an instruction on the particular statutory mitigator “the victim was a participant in the defendant’s conduct or consented to the act” at the conclusion of the penalty phase evidence presentation and did not object to the failure to give an instruction of the mitigating factors. App.p.1431-32 (conclusion of penalty phase evidence); App.p. 1489-90, ROA 1486-87 (discussion about jury request after instructions). Since there was no objection to the failure to instruct, nothing was preserved for the appeal on these issues.

Reasonable appellate counsel cannot have raised the issue on appeal since there was no objection. Appellate counsel is not deficient for failing to raise on appeal an issue that was not preserved for review. Legge v. State, 349 S.C. 222, 562 S.E.2d 618 (2002); Gilchrist v. State, 612 S.E.2d 702, 705 (S.C. 2004) (appellate counsel not ineffective where trial counsel's submission of the request to charge, without any further explanation of his point, was insufficient to preserve for review the trial court's failure to charge the specific language regarding "a right to act on appearances."). See State v. Hicks, 330 S.C. 207, 499 S.E.2d 209, cert. denied, 525 U.S. 1022, 119 S.Ct. 552, 142 L.Ed.2d 459 (1998) (issue must be raised to and ruled upon by trial court to be preserved for review); State v. Dickman, 341 S.C. 293, 534 S.E.2d 268 (2000) (party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal).

Counsel asserted that at the beginning of the penalty phases intent to pursue the mitigating factor that the victim was a participant in the defendant’s conduct or consented to the act. App.p. 1085. Judge Burch deferred a decision at that time on this factor depending on how it developed in the record. App.p. 1086-1087. Like a motion in limine, the record did not support a request at the conclusion of the penalty phase or an objection to the exclusion of the instruction on the

mitigating factor. App.p. 1489-90. The PCR court properly concluded that appellate counsel Savitz was not deficient in failing to brief an unpreserved claim.

In addition, the state PCR court held that there was nothing in the record to show that the trial court failed to hold a charge conference. App.p. 2162. See App.p. 1432 (judge recessing to view his checklist). Similarly, there was no showing that the defense objected to the lack of a charge conference to preserve the issue for an appeal. App.p. 2161. The PCR Court reasonably found that appellate counsel cannot be found to be deficient when the issue was not raised at trial by an objection or request.

The Petitioner asserts that the record shows the court failed to undertake the review of the evidence prior to making its determination of mitigating factors. However, the record defeats that erroneous assumption. As noted above, the trial judge did include from his review of the evidence the non-statutory mitigating factor of adaptability to prison in his instructions. App.p. 1483, l. 14-15. The trial judge also noted in his instructions: “there are such things as statutory mitigating circumstances which are not alleged or brought forth in this case.” App.p. 1483, l. 3-6. This explicitly suggests that the court considered matters prior to his instructions, as required under Victor. However, this general consideration does not preserve, absent objection or request, claims concerning the failure to charge a particular mitigating factor. This is borne out by the expressed failure on the part of trial counsel to object after the instructions to the failure to charge the statutory mitigating circumstance 16-3-20(C)(b)(3) that “the victim was a participant in the defendant’s conduct or consented to the act.”

Since there is no showing that the trial court refused to hold a charge conference or that the defense objected to the failure to instruct on the particular mitigating factor, reasonable appellate counsel could not have been required under the Constitution to assert these unpreserved

claims, particularly in 2000 when the appellant's brief was written after the decision in Humphries. His claims set forth in these two specifications must be dismissed.¹¹

Prejudice Not Shown

Further, prejudice may not be shown by this failing because there is no reasonable probability that the appellate court would have reversed the sentence had counsel Savitz briefed either issue. First, the issues were not preserved for appellate review by an objection. State v. Humphries, *supra*. Second, this Court in the direct appeal of this case rejected a claim that the evidence showed that Snipes was a "participant in the defendant's conduct or consented to the act." As the Court found: "[C]ontrary to Stokes' assertion, the redacted portions do not reflect that Snipes voluntarily rode to her death but, rather, serve only to demonstrate that she was, in fact, tricked into going into the woods. As such, the fact that she was "inveigled" or "decoyed" into going to Branchville negates, in legal contemplation, the voluntariness of her participation." State v. Stokes, 345 S.C. 368, 373, 548 S.E.2d 202, 204 (2001). This Court further held:

Moreover, even assuming arguendo, as Stokes claims, that the redacted portions of his statement were relevant to demonstrate the victim voluntarily accompanied them on the night of her murder, any error in the redaction is harmless. Both Stokes' letter and the testimony of Norris Martin amply demonstrate that Connie Snipes voluntarily went with Stokes and Syphrette to Branchville, and that she willingly walked into the woods with Martin and Stokes. Accordingly, the jury was well aware that she had accompanied them voluntarily, and Stokes has failed to demonstrate any prejudice from the redaction.

¹¹This Court does not need to address whether there was any evidence of the statutory mitigating factor that "the victim was a participant in the defendant's conduct or consented to the act" under Section 16-3-20(b)(3), because the specific request was not made by trial counsel and a Sixth Amendment claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel was not raised in the PCR court or hearing. However, even if asserted as a trial counsel claim under the Sixth Amendment, the "prejudice" prong cannot be satisfied where the evidence revealed that the victim's death was the idea and the plan by the Petitioner and Pattie Syphrette was to create a subterfuge and the intent was to kill her because of the problems Syphrette was facing with DSS. Simply put, Connie Snipes did not consent to the violence that was about to strike her involving the violent rape, stabbing, maiming and ultimately shooting. There is no reasonable probability that the result would have been different had request for the instruction been made or if the instruction had been given. Any suggestion otherwise is groundless in light of this horrific factual record of malice against the victim.

State v. Stokes, 345 S.C. 368, 374, 548 S.E.2d 202, 205 (2001). To suggest that she consented to her death and participated in her death and maiming is a misreading of this statutory mitigating factor. The plan was to kill her after sexual intercourse. Nothing suggests consent or participation in that plan by Snipes. This Court has already spoken - "Stokes' argument is akin to suggesting that a child molester who lures his child victim into his car with candy may be found not guilty of kidnapping, simply because the child "voluntarily" accompanied him in the hopes of receiving candy. We find such a position untenable." State v. Stokes, 345 S.C. 368, 373, 548 S.E.2d 202, 204, ft. 7.

Other courts in analogous situations have rejected the existence of the same mitigating factor. In Duest v. State, 855 So.2d 33 (Fla. 2003), the Florida Supreme Court rejected a request for the mitigating factor. Persuasively, the Florida court found:

Our resolution of this issue is governed by Wuornos v. State, 676 So.2d 972 (Fla.1996), in which this Court rejected the argument that by seeking the services of a prostitute, the murder victim had assumed the risk of harm, justifying a finding of this mitigating circumstance. We stated: By its plain language, the statute permits this factor only where: The victim was a participant in the defendant's conduct or consented to the act. § 921.141(6)(c), Fla.Stat. (1989).

It would be absurd to construe this language as applying whenever victims have engaged in some unlawful or even dangerous transaction that merely provided the killer a better opportunity to commit murder, which the victim did not intend. What the language plainly means is that the victim has knowingly and voluntarily participated with the killer in some transaction that in and of itself would be likely to result in the victim's death, viewed from the perspective of a reasonable person. An example would be two persons participating in a duel, with one being killed as a result. The statute does not encompass situations in which the killer surprises the victim with deadly force, as happened here under any construction of the facts. *Id.* at 975. These observations apply with equal force to the acts of Pope, the victim in this case, in picking up Duest in a bar and taking him home. As in Wuornos, the evidence shows that Duest surprised the victim with deadly force, rendering the mitigator of victim participation in or consent to the murder inapplicable. Additionally, Pope's failure to promptly seek medical treatment did not make him either a participant in the deadly attack or evince his consent to the murder. A construction of section 921.141(6) (c) making the failure to seek medical care tantamount to consent to or participation in the murder

would be no more justified than the construction of the provision we rejected in Wuornos. Because there was no evidence from which the jury could lawfully have found that the victim participated in the conduct resulting in his death, the trial court properly denied the instruction.

Duest v. State, 855 So.2d 33, 43-44 (Fla. 2003). See State v. Sattler, 288 Mont. 79, 956 P.2d 54 (Mont. 1998) (victim was not participant in or consenter to defendant's acts of beating him to death, even if victim's acts produced defendant's responsive acts, and thus, defendant's self-defense related testimony did not constitute evidence of mitigating circumstance that victim participated in or consented to defendant's acts which resulted in his death for purposes of imposing death penalty upon conviction for deliberate homicide); Dill v. State, 600 So.2d 343 (Ala.Cr.App. 1991) (victim's status as drug dealer and refusal to give defendant cocaine did not make victim participant in defendant's conduct as statutory mitigating circumstance in capital murder prosecution). Other state courts have also strictly construed the consent, or participation, element of the "victim consent" mitigating factor. See, e.g., State of Tennessee v. Collier, 1997 WL 9722 at *7 (Tenn.Crim.App.1997) (finding that the "victim consent" mitigator did not apply where defendant was allegedly provoked to murder the mother of his son as a result of her boyfriend's threats that he would never see his son again; the court held: "These facts simply do not support any 'participation' or 'consent' on behalf of [the victim]."); State v. Ryan, 248 Neb. 405, 534 N.W.2d 766, 784-85 (1995) ("victim consent" mitigator inapplicable where victim was a member of a cult group and allegedly consented initially to corporal punishment inflicted by the group leader which resulted in his death by torture).¹²

¹² The Model Penal Code and state decisional law interpreting similar mitigating circumstances are instructive. And, because the "victim consent" mitigator has as its origin Section 210.6(4) (c) of the Model Penal Code, the commentary note to that model provision is of special importance. The Code's commentary posits a strict and narrow application of the "victim consent" mitigator:

Paragraph (c) addresses the case where the victim is partially responsible for his own death. This circumstance obtains chiefly in two kinds of situations. First, there are occasions in which the defendant and his victim are engaged jointly in an activity highly dangerous to each. If

Respondent submits that the Petitioner was not entitled to this statutory mitigating circumstance because she did not consent to the violent activity that was planned against her. She was neither a participant nor consentor to her own death. The claim otherwise is not supported by a reasonable reading of the statute.

Further, any error in the failure to instruct must be deemed harmless in light of the violence and the post-mortem abuse which was perpetrated on the victim and other acts of violence committed by Stokes. As this Court stated:

According to Norris Martin, Stokes forced Snipes to have sex with Martin at gunpoint. After Martin was finished, Stokes had sex with Snipes. While doing so, Stokes grabbed her breast and stabbed her in the chest, cutting both her nipples. Stokes then rolled her over and began having anal sex with her. When Stokes was finished, he and Martin each shot the victim one time in the head, and then dragged her body into the woods. Stokes then took Martin's knife and scalped her, [n. 4] throwing her hair into the woods. According to Martin, Stokes then cut Snipes' vagina out.

Ft. 4 According to the pathologist, Snipes' injuries were consistent with having been scalped, had the nipple area cut from each breast, and having had the vaginal area cut out.

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